MINNESOTA AQUATIC INVASIVE Species Research Center

2021

Legislative Report

Recommendations for establishing a statewide surveillance and early detection system for aquatic invasive species





Recommendations for establishing a statewide surveillance and early detection system for aquatic invasive species.

Legislative Request:

\$510,000 the first year and \$510,000 the second year are from the heritage enhancement account in the game and fish fund for grants to the Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center at the University of Minnesota to prioritize, support, and develop research-based solutions that can reduce the effects of aquatic invasive species in Minnesota by preventing spread, controlling populations, and managing ecosystems and to advance knowledge to inspire action by others. Of the first year amount, \$100,000 is to develop, in conjunction with the commissioner of natural resources, the commissioner of the Pollution Control Agency, counties, and other stakeholders, recommendations for establishing a statewide surveillance and early detection system for aquatic invasive species. By March 1, 2020, the Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center must submit a report and recommendations to the chairs and ranking minority members of the legislative committees and divisions with jurisdiction over environment and natural resources policy and finance. The report must include recommendations on all of the following:

(1) the most effective structure for a statewide surveillance and early detection system for aquatic invasive species;

(2) whether to employ eco-epidemiological models, optimized decision models, or related tools as a mechanism for determining how best to deploy limited resources;

(3) how the statewide system should be funded and at what levels; and

(4) regulatory, policy, and statutory changes that would be needed to fully implement the statewide system.

The base amount for this appropriation in fiscal year 2022 and later is \$410,000.

Report Director

Nicholas Phelps, MS, PhD

Director of Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center

Department of Fisheries Wildlife and Conservation Biology

College of Food, Agricultural, and Natural Resource Sciences

University of Minnesota

University of Minnesota

Project Manager

Amy Kinsley, DVM, PhD

Department of Veterinary Population Medicine College of Veterinary Medicine University of Minnesota

Project Team

Camila Fonseca Sarmiento, MPP	Meg Duhr
Humphrey School of Public Affairs	Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center
University of Minnesota	College of Food, Agricultural, and Natural Resource Sciences
	University of Minnesota
Daniel Larkin, PhD	Gretchen Hansen, MS, PhD
Department of Fisheries Wildlife and Conservation Biology	Department of Fisheries Wildlife and Conservation Biology
College of Food, Agricultural, and Natural Resource Sciences	College of Food, Agricultural, and Natural Resource Sciences
University of Minnesota	University of Minnesota
Jerry Zhao, PhD	Robert Haight, MF, PhD
Director of the Institute for Urban & Regional Infrastructure and Finance	US Forest Service, Northern Research Station
Humphrey School of Public Affairs	

Acknowledgments

The Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center (MAISRC) received input and advice from experts and stakeholders from across the state. Two working groups were formed to review the report and provide input and feedback. MAISRC would like to thank the participants that enhanced the quality of this report.

Bruce Anspach, Aquatic Invasive Species Lake Technician, Beltrami County Levy Bergstrom, Cass County Lake Technician Tony Brough, AIS Prevention Program Coordinator, Hennepin County Justine Dauphinais, Coon Creek Watershed District Matt Downing, Senior Water Resource Specialist, Washington Conservation District Nicole Erickson, Crow Wing County Environmental Services/AIS Specialist Chris Evans, Program Manager of AIS Control Program, Itasca Soil & Water Conservation District Kevin Farnum, Minnesota Coalition of Lake Associations Jeffery Forester, Executive Director of the Minnesota Lakes and Rivers Advocates Bill Grantges, Itasca County AIS coordinator Russ Hilbert, Kandiyohi County Feedlot Officer/County AIS Coordinator Steve Hughes, Aitkin County Soil and Water Conservation District Manager James Johnson, Chair of the DNR Statewide Aquatic Invasive Species Advisory Committee Karl Koenig, AIS Specialist, Becker County Cole Loewen, Stearns County Environmental Services Jeff Lovgren, St. Louis, Vermillion Lake Association Nick Macklem, AIS program manager Hubbard County Spencer McGrew, AIS specialist Otter Tail County Mary McNellis, Vermillion Lake Association Peter Mead, Soil and Water Conservation District, Becker County Alicia O'Hare, Wright Resource Specialist, Wright County Soil and Water Conservation District Dave Rush, Douglas County Joseph Schneider, President of the Minnesota Coalition of Lake Associations Danny Tuckett, Environmental Technician, Big Stone County Justin Townsend, Ramsey County Natalya Walker, North St Louis County, Soil and Water Conservation District Susanna Wilson, Water Resource Manager, Chisago County Minnesota Department of Natural Resources

Table of Contents

Executive Summary4
Introduction
Background: Key concepts of surveillance
Types of surveillance
SECTION I: Components of a Statewide Surveillance and Early Detection System
SECTION II: The use of decision-support tools for resource allocation
SECTION III: Gaps and Opportunities for Existing Surveillance and Early Detection Efforts24
SECTION IV: Funding and regulatory implications of a statewide surveillance and early detection program
1. Develop a Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan to guide the use of state-aid funding
2. Develop a statewide web-accessible database for AIS efforts
3. Increase and/or adjust funding distribution formula for AIS Prevention Aid
4. Strengthen communications to foster regional coordination
5. Strengthen the legal framework for early detection and surveillance, of AIS
References
Glossary
Appendix

Executive Summary

Aquatic invasive species (AIS) are one of the greatest threats to preserving Minnesota's natural aquatic resources, requiring effective surveillance and early detection to mitigate the threats posed by AIS.¹⁻³ In this report, we identify key components of a statewide surveillance and early detection system including, Surveys and Inspections, Partnerships and Communication, Education, Research, and Training, and Evaluation and describe these further in <u>Section II</u>. We address the use of eco-epidemiological and other decision support models to allocate limited resources in <u>Section II</u>. We then discuss the gaps and opportunities that exist in surveillance and early detection efforts currently conducted in the state in <u>Section III</u> and conclude the report in <u>Section IV</u> with recommendations on funding and regulatory modifications to support an effective statewide surveillance and early detection program, summarized below.

- 1. **Develop a statewide AIS surveillance and early detection plan-** Based on the framework described in Section I of this report and conversations with stakeholders, we recommend the development and implementation of a statewide AIS surveillance and early detection plan that will provide guidance to all stakeholders on surveillance and early detection activities, further cooperation, and increase the efficiency of current efforts. The development of this new plan should be done in cooperation with all relevant stakeholders to ensure the purpose, objectives, and evaluation strategies are supported.
- 2. Establish a statewide database for AIS efforts- In addition to the statewide AIS surveillance and early detection plan, we recommend the establishment of a statewide database to collect, archive, and share information regarding AIS surveillance and early detection efforts across the state. Currently, there is limited centralized information regarding AIS efforts made by state and county managers, researchers, and other stakeholders in Minnesota. Having a comprehensive database of AIS efforts will inform AIS decision making and help in the coordination of AIS efforts.
- **3. Increase and/or adjust funding distribution-** As aquatic invasive species spread and their impacts continue to grow, so does the need for funding to address the problem. In times of financial stability, increased funding will ensure continued growth and development of robust and responsive programs. However, in times of economic distress, shifting the focus towards maximizing efficiency of current funding can support sustainable programmatic growth. We recommend increasing and/or restructuring the current AIS Prevention Aid funding allocation model to account for a risk-based allocation approach. In addition, the new funding model should support the implementation of local activities of the statewide AIS surveillance and early detection plan described in this report.
- 4. Strengthen communications to foster regional coordination- Coordinated management efforts for issues as complicated and widespread as AIS are critical. All stakeholders involved in AIS efforts must recognize that the management of AIS is a shared responsibility, and ineffective or underfunded efforts in one jurisdiction can affect the success of programs in neighboring jurisdictions. Fostering regional and statewide collaborations between the

diversity of stakeholders involved with AIS issues can boost efficiency and promote effective use of resources.

5. Strengthen the definition of terms associated with AIS, surveillance, early detection, and rapid response of AIS- Statutory definitions serve as key thresholds to our understanding of legislation. They can intentionally or unintentionally narrow or widen a statute's scope of understanding. In addition, statutory definitions can help unite heterogenous legislative audiences. As such, making the language more explicit for surveillance, early detection, and rapid response activities influences prioritization of and resource allocation for these activities.

Introduction

An invasive species is a non-native species whose introduction causes or has the potential to cause harm to the economy, environment, or human health.⁴ Invasive species are a growing concern across the globe, leading to losses in biodiversity, disrupted ecosystem processes, and impacts on agriculture, forestry, fisheries, and international trade. Species invasions are facilitated through recreation, trade, natural pathways of spread, and other economic drivers, suggesting that the impact of AIS will continue to grow. While preventing the introduction of an AIS is the first line of defense, a strategic surveillance and early detection plan, coupled with efficient cost-effective responses,⁵⁻⁷ are critical to containment and long-term control.⁸⁻¹⁰

Surveillance is broadly defined as the systematic collection and analysis of outcome-specific data, meaning that the data are collected with the intent to plan, implement, and evaluate management activities. Surveillance approaches are rooted in public health,¹¹ with the first public health surveillance activities recorded in 3180 B.C. in Egypt.¹² Since then, surveillance has been used for various purposes, including the detection of non-communicable diseases,^{13,14} to manage environmental pollution,¹⁵ to detect outbreaks of infectious disease,^{16–19} and the presence of invasive species.^{20–22} In the context of AIS, surveillance sampling may be designed to collect data which can be used in a variety of ways, including:

- Detect invasions
- Document the distribution and abundance of an invasive species within and across units of interest (e.g., lakes)
- Generate hypotheses about pathways of spread
- Evaluate management strategies, including prevention
- Assess the safety of control strategies and response procedures
- Identify research needs and facilitate research and a variety of planning activities
- Monitor evolutionary changes in the invasive species of interest

Broadly speaking, the sum of the surveillance activities comprises a statewide surveillance system, which should begin with a clear understanding of the purpose or objectives of the system. Additionally, to maximize their efficacy and efficiency, both the surveillance system and sampling strategies must be designed with careful consideration of species' behavior, habitat preferences, and ability to invade new locations.^{19,20}

Early detection is a component of surveillance, intended to support rapid response efforts that will minimize the impacts of an AIS through containment or control, and in some cases, eradication. It is important to note that successful eradication of any population is challenging and often impossible with current technologies. Even with future technologies that may more effectively kill AIS in open-water environments, eradication would require proper planning and commitment to successfully impact the entire population, remove them faster than they reproduce, minimize non-target impacts, and prevent reinvasion.²³ Currently, no AIS have been eradicated in Minnesota, notwithstanding numerous attempts. Despite these challenges, early detection to support rapid response remains an essential component of effective management. There have been numerous examples where small populations were successfully contained, or interventions were implemented to meet management goals. Furthermore, recent technological advances, novel use of methods, and knowledge gained from successful and unsuccessful eradication campaigns worldwide continue to fuel advancements in this area.^{25,2424,25}

The purpose of this report is to support statewide surveillance and early detection efforts by 1) Suggesting a framework for coordination and enhancement of current efforts, 2) Providing guidance on the use of eco-epidemiological and decision support tools in resource allocation, and 3) Outlining funding and regulatory opportunities that could support this framework.

The recommendations in this report were developed in a multidisciplinary manner incorporating principles of surveillance from ecology, invasion biology, and epidemiology with information gained through a review of pertinent literature, publicly available government documents, and through conversations with stakeholders (see acknowledgements for full list).

Background: Key concepts of surveillance

Surveillance systems may be classified as either active or passive (**Figure 1**). Most observations of AIS infestations rely on passive reporting or reports made by members of the public.^{26,27} Passive surveillance has many advantages, such as being low cost and engaging many potential observers; however, the geographic coverage is typically unknown, and the expertise among observers is highly variable.² While passive reporting can be enhanced through public education and awareness campaigns, passive surveillance typically yields results that underestimate the severity of infestations and often fails to identify invasions in a timely manner.³ On the other hand, active surveillance systems can validate passive reporting, ascertain the extent of an invasion, and allow for robust inference about AIS prevalence, but it can be resource-intensive and require strategic planning. Since resources are often limited, active surveillance systems are frequently used for targeted surveys of specific species, over discrete periods of time or regions, and can be used to inform more efficient risk-based passive surveillance approaches.

Surveillance						
	Passive	Active				
Purpose	>To access trends >To identify risk factors for prevention and control	>To validate passive surveillance systems>To loosely track new invasions				
Pros	>Inexpensive >Can cover large areas	>More accurate and complete data >Can produce early and timely data				
Cons	>Under reporting >Incomplete data	>Can be resource intensive>Methodology must be well-developed				

Figure 1. A comparison of passive and active surveillance.

Unit of analysis

The unit of analysis is the entity under consideration for which the findings of the survey are relevant. The unit of analysis differs from the unit of observation, which is simply the entities you are observing or measuring (e.g., adult zebra mussel shells), which may or may not differ from the unit of analysis. Units of analysis in AIS surveillance may be lakes, waterbodies, boats, or higher-level units (e.g., chain of waterbodies, counties, states, or countries). Moving forward in this report, we will assume that the unit of analysis is the waterbody because infestation status is widely tracked and responded to by waterbody.

Time frame for detection

Early detection implies that there is a target time frame for detection; however, this can be difficult to define. An operational definition for this report may be defined as surveillance for the presence of AIS prior to establishment so that potential rapid response efforts are most efficient and effective at controlling or limiting spread to additional waterbodies. We acknowledge that "*early*" is context-specific, relating to a particular target species' invasiveness, its detectability, and the ability of managers to respond effectively. In practice, a species-specific surveillance program should have a clearly defined target time frame to evaluate the system's performance. Because there may be minimal signs of the AIS during the lag period, despite its ability to spread (**Figure 2**), the target time frame should start from the moment the AIS is detectable while considering the methods used for detection. A longer time frame may result in a higher prevalence of the AIS, making detection easier but management more difficult.

Within this report, we use the terms *surveillance* and *early detection* with respect to AIS as strategic approaches for identifying AIS occurrences, with the intention of preventing and quantifying establishment, spread, and harmful impacts. This approach is in line with the larger context of AIS management because data gathered from early detection efforts help inform management responses.²⁸ Surveillance and early detection are typically coupled, in concept, to rapid response; however, in this report, we focus on surveillance and early detection only, with the understanding that these efforts must generate a rapid response to successfully control an AIS once it has evaded prevention efforts.



Figure 2. Invasion process for aquatic invasive species.

Sensitivity

Surveillance sensitivity is commonly used to measure the performance of surveillance in different contexts.^{29–31} The sensitivity of surveillance activities measures their ability to detect the presence of an AIS (within the specified time frame in the context of early detection) and can be defined for a sample (sample sensitivity) or a survey (survey sensitivity). Sample sensitivity describes the probability of a sample to detect a population that is present at the sampling location,³² and survey sensitivity is the probability of detecting a population present in the survey area or waterbody.³² For early detection to be successful, the waterbody that is first infested must be included in the surveillance system, it must be surveyed in the appropriate time frame, and the method used for detection must be adequate for detecting the AIS in a life or population stage that is early enough such that development of a sustainable population can be prevented. Imperfect sensitivity may lead to false negatives, where a lake is inaccurately classified as un-infested, which may lead to undetected growth and spread of the AIS population.

Specificity

Specificity is another measure used to assess the performance of surveillance. Specificity describes the ability of a sample or survey to correctly identify the *absence* of an AIS. When the purpose of surveillance is to demonstrate that a waterbody is free from AIS, imperfect specificity may lead to false alarms, inaccurately classifying a lake as infested, leading to time- and resource-intensive follow-up investigations. Likewise, when the intention of the surveillance activity is to monitor or accurately assess the severity of an infestation, imperfect specificity may overestimate abundance and distribution. For example, environmental DNA (eDNA) is a tool that searches for genetic material to identify the presence of species. It has a high sensitivity and is particularly powerful when aiming to detect species at low abundance.³³ But when eDNA has been applied to AIS,^{34–36} it has proven problematic for achieving high levels of specificity from environmental samples with low amounts of DNA or when needing to distinguish between closely related taxa;³⁷ potentially making it a more ideal tool for identifying new infestations versus monitoring the severity of existing infestations.

Types of surveillance

There are many more-specific types of surveillance, beyond the broad categories of active and passive surveillance. An optimal surveillance program would include a variety of surveillance approaches that form an integrated and dynamic system built upon ongoing data collection and real-time analysis to inform risk management.³⁸ This should drive policy and management activities that are continuously evolving and adapting to new information.³⁸

Public reporting

Public reporting is a form of passive surveillance that has been used to identify new infestations of AIS. The public has been essential to informing the current know distribution of many AIS in Minnesota, playing a critical role in reporting new detections and preventing AIS in their communities.³⁹ However, public reporting comes with unique challenges associated with human behavior and introduces biases to the results.²⁷ For example, individual property owners participating in surveillance activities on

waterbodies adjacent to their properties may only consider the impacts of detection on that waterbody rather than landscape-level impacts, leading to gaps in available data.³⁹ Recreational boaters also report AIS observations; however, their level of AIS awareness is highly variable and accurate detection requires prior knowledge. Public reporting efforts can be maximized with effective coordination, communication and educational programming.

Syndromic surveillance

Syndromic surveillance refers to a collection of approaches that aim to detect the introduction of an AIS based on statistical pattern analysis instead of direct observation of the invader. Damage or ecosystem changes consistent with presence of an AIS may be the first indication that an invasion has occurred.⁴⁰ The objective of syndromic surveillance is to identify AIS early, before they are observed using traditional detection methods, to mobilize a rapid response to increase efficiency and efficacy.⁴¹

Periodic surveys

Periodic surveys are conducted at a regular interval, but often do not attain full coverage of an area of interest or landscape scale and are rarely conducted frequently enough to reach the target time coverage needed to meet the standards of early detection as described above. Periodic surveys have been used to detect new populations of AIS or to monitor the spread of existing populations.

Risk-based surveillance

Risk-based approaches have been used in a wide variety of fields, including ecology, environmental science, and animal and public health.^{1,3-5} Risk-based surveillance can be defined by the allocation of surveillance activities guided by the probability of an occurrence. It has grown in popularity over the last two decades⁵ due to its ability to increase efficacy and efficiency. In this context, *risk* is based on the concept of probability theory and expectation that, while an individual event may be random, repeated events have a tendency to form patterns that allow for accurate predictions. It is critical to note that there is a distinction between *risk-based surveillance* and *risk-based sampling*,²⁹ as risk-based surveillance is built upon concepts of risk to design surveillance programs which may, for example, prioritize surveillance efforts across different locations or pathways. Conversely, *risk-based sampling* refers to the consideration of different characteristics or conditions that increases the likelihood that an introduction will occur, when determining the sampling effort allocated to different locations (or waterbodies) of risk represented by the units of analysis at the landscape level.

Probability theory is useful in planning and interpreting outputs of surveillance activities but must be used in a way that is in line with surveillance purposes. For example, if the objective of a surveillance program is to detect *all* AIS introductions, all units of interest (e.g., waterbodies or counties) must be under surveillance, or else a lower-risk unit would allow for an incursion to go undetected. But since resources are limited, risk can be used to prioritize resources to improve surveillance. So, while passive surveillance allows for high (area and temporal) coverage, the sensitivity may be quite low, leading to sub-optimal reporting. Investing in targeted high-risk areas would have a greater impact on surveillance sensitivity than increasing the investments in low-risk units.^{29,42} A critical question that arises when

considering risk-based surveillance is, "Where are the high-risk units?" We address this question further in <u>Section II</u>.

Sentinel surveillance

Similar to risk-based surveillance, sentinel surveillance involves using a limited number of waterbodies, or locations within a waterbody, with an elevated probability of AIS introductions to collect high-quality data. However, unlike risk-based surveillance, sentinel surveillance requires selecting waterbodies that are representative of the entire surveillance area, such that the results can be generalized to a larger surveillance area. Data collected in a well-designed sentinel system can be used to detect trends, identify new invasions, and provide an economical alternative to other active surveillance systems.⁴² Minnesota's Sentinel Lakes Program (MSLP) is an example of sentinel surveillance that collects intensive and long-term data on physical, chemical, and biological changes in Minnesota's lakes.⁴³ The MSLP comprises 25 lakes across geographic locations, trophic statuses, and ecoregions.

Success stories in Minnesota

Zebra Mussels detected in Bone Lake

On May 28, 2019, a Washington Conservation District employee found six juvenile zebra mussels attached to a stick beneath the public access dock on Bone Lake. The detection was part of the county's weekly surveillance protocol developed in collaboration with the Minnesota DNR. The survey of that dock was negative the previous week, indicating that the juvenile population was recently introduced. Immediately after detection, the northern shore of Bone Lake was intensively surveyed for zebra mussels, and in the following days, the Emmons and Oliver Resources staff members, Minnesota DNR dive team, and Blue Water Science conducted over 70 hours of surveys, all of which resulted in no further detections of zebra mussels. A 10-day copper sulfate treatment was initiated on June 17, and staff continued their surveys of the lake. Although no additional adults have been detected in Bone Lake posttreatment, veligers (the juvenile life stage of zebra mussels) have been detected. While only time will tell if the treatment is successful in the long-term, the negative surveys for adult zebra mussels provide hope in the value of systematic surveillance and early detection.

Starry Stonewort detected in Grand Lake

Starry stonewort was initially found by a volunteer citizen scientist as a small population during a 2017 Starry Trek event (MAISRC/UMN Extension program). Following subsequent surveys by the MN DNR, the population was confirmed to be isolated near the public boat launch. Working with local partners, the MN DNR implemented a rapid response effort to hand pull the starry stonewort. After three years, the starry stonewort has not expanded its range within the lake and continues to decrease in abundance annually, suggesting the possibility of eventual elimination. This success was enabled by the early detection effort of trained volunteers.



SECTION I: Components of a Statewide Surveillance and Early Detection System

In this section, we will provide a framework and identify key components of an effective statewide surveillance system.

A statewide surveillance purpose and objectives

A well-defined purpose for a surveillance program is critical for communicating objectives, which can be measured over time to track the program's performance (see *Evaluation* in subsection iv). A statewide surveillance program for AIS should have objectives that clearly describe how the data collected through the surveillance activities will be used considering the infestation status of the AIS of interest and public support⁴⁴ of the associated management plans. A few examples of objectives include to monitor the distribution of an AIS over time, to prevent and control spread,⁴⁵ for early detection and rapid response.

The purpose of the surveillance program should include information on:

- i) the objectives of the surveillance program and the actions that will be triggered by findings,
- ii) the target species and geographical area to be surveyed (see <u>subsection</u>),
- the methods and strategies to be implemented for each objective/species/geographical area.
 To ensure active participation and improve confidence in the results, it is important that the purpose and objectives of a surveillance program are co-developed with relevant stakeholders.

Surveys and Inspections

AIS will be introduced and spread to new areas despite even the most robust prevention program. However, the time between the establishment of a species in a region, its subsequent, secondary spread to new locations, and the resulting impact represents a window of opportunity for detection and efficient management. Surveys and monitoring activities generate information on the occurrence and distribution of potential AIS and enable informed management decisions to guide such efforts.

A. Identify flagship species for surveillance

Identifying which species are likely to have significant ecological or socioeconomic impacts is critical for developing effective surveillance and early detection programs, as it guides the detection and response efforts, which go hand in hand. In Minnesota, prohibited invasive species are those with the highest risk to the state's natural resources and economy and could be used as the flagship species. The flagship species of a statewide AIS program can be selected based on their respective pathways of introduction, establishment ability, invasiveness, and life history.

B. Identify priority pathways and locations for surveillance

The large number of waterbodies in the state creates a challenge for effective surveillance and early detection. To better allocate resources and efforts toward the detection and monitoring of AIS, selection of surveillance locations should be informed by an understanding of risk, such that locations or pathways with higher likelihoods of invasion, establishment, damage, and subsequent spread receive greater attention. Pathways of introduction and spread include, but are not limited to, boater movement, organisms in trade, water connectivity, bait release, and pet release. Such prioritization can provide a higher return on investment for surveillance efforts.^{2, 21} Decision support tools can provide managers with information about priority locations for surveillance and tradeoffs between alternative surveillance and management objectives. Such tools are discussed in further detail in <u>Section II</u>.

C. Provide direction on surveillance activities

In addition to the identification of priority target species, pathways, and locations, determining the appropriate study design, including justifications, protocols, sampling methods, comparison groups, and questionnaires are all important considerations when planning surveillance activities. Surveillance systems require long-term cooperation and coordination of many individuals. The system adopted must be feasible and acceptable to those who contribute to its success. The system should be sensitive enough to provide the information needed to meet the system's objectives, which minimize the resources necessary for following up on detections.

Protocols, standardized techniques, and guidance on the location, frequency, and intensity of surveillance activities must be developed specifically for each AIS. The use of standardized methods creates consistency in data collection and allows for comparisons across space and time. In addition,

the dissemination of surveillance results (positive and negative) should align with the systems' purpose and objectives and be available to all stakeholders.

C.1 Standards

Surveillance standards are a set of guidelines on how to conduct surveillance activities. Surveillance standards tend to fall into one of two categories, input-based or output-based.

Input-based standards

Traditionally, surveillance standards are input-based, aiming to achieve a similar outcome across different agencies or authorities engaged in surveillance activities. For example, sampling strategy, sample size, method, and frequency of survey activities are outlined by the surveillance standard. The advantages of using an input-based approach lie in communication, standardization, and verification. It is generally easier to train new personnel and compare surveillance results across locations or pathways using input-based standards.

Output-based standards

Output-based standards address variability by prescribing what surveillance activities should *achieve* vs. what they should *do*. For example, an output-based standard may require that surveys need to yield a 99% confidence that a waterbody is free of a specified AIS at a specified detection threshold. While guidance is provided on how to achieve the desired outputs, there is flexibility to address differences in the entities being surveyed (e.g., waterbodies, pathways, counties, etc.). Two common approaches to output-based surveillance are based on (1) surveillance sensitivity, or the probability of a positive detection given that a waterbody is infested, and (2) confirmation of invader absence or eradication, i.e., the probability that an entity is free from an AIS given that the survey results are negative. A third approach is risk-based sampling, where the waterbodies and/or the locations within the waterbodies are sampled based on a pre-determined threshold of risk. Risk-based sampling has the ability to increase the efficacy of surveillance because fewer samples are needed to detect an invasion or demonstrate freedom from an invasion.²⁹

Estimating Sensitivity

Methods to determine the sensitivity of surveillance activities have been developed for a variety of domains, including aquatic resource management, public health, livestock production, wildlife and biodiversity, and crop production and plant health.⁴² For surveillance systems based on active sampling of waterbodies, the detection sensitivity can be estimated based on the sensitivity of both the sampling method (e.g., plot-based methods, such as quadrats sampled along transects vs. plotless methods, such as timed meanders) and the detection method (e.g., artificial substrate samplers).

C.2 Target time periods

It is challenging to determine when a target time period should begin for early detection. When an AIS is first introduced, there may be no signs of its presence. In general, the target time period for detection should start from the moment an AIS is considered detectable using the available detection methods. Inherently, the time to detection is influenced by the life cycle of the AIS, and when within its life cycle, it can be detected. The longer the target time frame, the greater the opportunity for an increase in abundance.

C.3 Sampling design

Surveillance sampling must be designed based on the species, characteristics of the site, population of interest, survey objectives, and desired precision. Due to the complexity underlying each of these aspects, robust analytical approaches, such as eco-epidemiological modeling, are needed to determine how to most effectively and cost-efficiently detect AIS.²⁸ More information regarding models used for surveillance of AIS and eco-epidemiological modeling is covered in <u>Section II</u>.

Partnerships and Communication

Many entities are currently involved in formal and informal AIS surveillance activities, including local, state, and regional agency staff; lake associations; researchers; and other groups, thus, coordination, information sharing, use of standardized methods, and shared objectives are needed. Considering partnerships and effective communication is critically important, given the current distribution of state funding. Robust partnerships and communication plans that bring together different groups of stakeholders are key for coordinating surveillance efforts, raising awareness of species of concern, engaging more people in AIS identification and reporting, and building trust among stakeholders and the general public. It is important to note that monitoring and surveillance should be coordinated to avoid duplication or gaps in effort and to ensure that sampling is standardized. This will require developing coordination efforts that go beyond communication.

Education, Research, and Training

Education

Education is the systematic process of learning with the goal of acquiring knowledge. Educational activities can be used to increase public awareness of newly introduced, established, or threatening AIS to engage citizens and enhance detection. Such activities may include workshops, fact sheets, videos, identification aids, and public databases for reporting suspect cases.

Training

Training is the process of learning with the goal of performing a skill or behavior. It is essential for professionals and volunteers to be properly trained on topics related to surveillance activities such as sample design, sample methods, identification of AIS, data collection, reporting, and data analysis. The need to train individuals involved in these activities is a continual process that should be prioritized through the life of the surveillance program.

Research

Significant progress has been made in recent years to inform surveillance and early detection programs. However, questions remain, and more research is needed to better understand, monitor, and model aspects of AIS invasions and spread. Scientifically driven surveillance and early detection activities are essential to developing successful surveillance and early detection programs.⁴⁶ Below we outline additional research needs in this area:

- Risk assessments (to design risk-based surveillance) *
- Impacts assessments
- Decision support tools*
- Validation of databases that can be used to design activities*
- Assess survey design*
- Incorporation of behavioral data into surveillance methods (species of interest and human behavior)
- Novel detection methods, such as eDNA*
- Economic-tradeoffs*

(*) Active areas of research for the Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center

Evaluation

Evaluation of surveillance systems should promote the judicious use of resources by ensuring that appropriate AIS are under surveillance and that those surveillance activities operate efficiently. The evaluation of surveillance programs should include recommendations for improving quality and efficiency, e.g., eliminating unnecessary duplication and incorporating prioritization schemes. Most importantly, an evaluation should assess whether a system is serving a useful function, is meeting the system's objectives, and has stable funding. The evaluation process should qualitatively and/or quantitatively evaluate plans, operations, impacts, and outcomes as defined by the overall objectives and surveillance design.



SECTION II: The use of decision-support tools for resource allocation

Surveillance programs that aim to detect new populations of AIS early enough to control the population before significant environmental or economic damage has occurred are a cornerstone of many management plans.⁴⁷ However, the design of effective surveillance programs can be difficult, as they must often overcome challenges in statistical design, large surveillance areas, multiple targets with unknown identity or biology, multiple forms of surveillance data, budget restrictions, and limited capacity. To overcome these challenges, scientists and managers should consider the development and implementation of eco-epidemiological models and decision-support tools that facilitate better-informed decisions regarding resource allocation. In this section, we review recent scientific developments that have led to more informed decision-making regarding surveillance and early detection of AIS around the world. We then focus on the advancements of such tools in Minnesota in the next section.

Ecological niche models (ENM) have been used to predict species distributions based on environmental conditions to guide monitoring and surveillance activities as well as estimate the severity of impact caused by an introduced organism.^{48,49} ENM are predicated on niche theory, the concept that species' distributions and abundances are mediated by habitat suitability, or the availability of locations with environmental conditions that are hospitable for a given species.⁵⁰ They can be used in conjunction with models that simulate dispersal to understand species' likely futures distributions in order to prioritize monitoring and management interventions.

Traditional ENM have been extended to address the influence of climate change on the prediction of invasive aquatic populations.^{49,51} Lee II et al. (2007) developed a general framework for synthesizing information to manage AIS in the face of changing and, at times, volatile environmental conditions. Despite recent advancements in the use of ENM, there are a few caveats. First, biotic and environmental

data need to be consistently assessed across scale, resolution, and GIS projection.⁵² Secondly, critical data may not be available to predict the probability of occurrence or abundance with the desired resolution to inform management decisions. As with all models, ENMs should be continually updated and validated to assess their accuracy and external validity.⁵³

Numerous studies have predicted the occurrence of AIS to support the use of targeted field surveys for monitoring and resource allocation, using non-ENM methods.^{54–58} For example, Underwood et al. (2004) used key environmental factors to identify vulnerable regions of invasion in Yosemite National Park. Consistent with similar studies, they found that areas with high levels of human activity and disturbance are more likely to have high levels of invasive species occurrences—likely due to people and their vehicles serving as vectors of spread. Likewise, stream corridors were found to be important pathways of spread due to annual floods that create seasonal connectivity between otherwise isolated riparian habitats.

Risk analysis is a framework for standardizing science-based information to decision makers to prevent and manage invasive species.⁶⁰ Risk assessments are key components of risk analyses⁶¹ that determines the likelihood of threats and vulnerabilities and assesses the magnitude of exposures.⁶⁰ They can use qualitative or quantitative approaches, or a combination thereof, to estimate the risk of a hazard, or source of potential harm, and have been used in regards to AIS to determine the invasive potential of a plant, invertebrate, fish, or pathogen and to describe the risk of spread for different pathways or vectors.^{62,63}

Mechanistic models have been used to predict the spread of AIS, such as the fish species Eurasian ruffe (*Gymnocephalus cernua*), using a variety of methods.⁶⁴ Such models are important to inform surveillance both in understanding where to prioritize survey efforts as well as in identifying and quantifying the impact of different mechanisms that contribute to dispersals. Betletsky et al. (2017) investigated the impact of lake currents on the dispersal of Eurasian ruffe and golden mussel (*Limnoperna fortune*) in Lake Superior and Lake Michigan. Their findings supported lake currents as an important dispersal mechanism of golden mussel and identified Green Bay as an optimal location to focus surveillance and control, emphasizing the importance of frequent sampling at high-risk points of introduction.

Resource allocation models integrate ecological and economic information in an optimization framework to assist decision-makers in identifying cost-effective strategies for surveillance and control, explore tradeoffs among management objectives, and understand the ramifications of uncertainty about invasion spread.⁶⁵ For example, resource allocation models have been used to identify optimal surveillance and control strategies for environments under continual invasion pressure where the number, size, and location of established populations are unknown prior to detection (5,6). They have also been used to prioritize locations for surveillance effort, given uncertainty about invasion spread.⁶⁶

Current decision support tools applied to AIS in Minnesota

Introduction Risk for Surveillance

Researchers from MAISRC, in collaboration with researchers from the UMN's School of Public Health and College of Veterinary Medicine, have developed an innovative introduction risk model that forecasts the potential risk associated with the spread of zebra mussels and starry stonewort throughout the entire

state of Minnesota by taking introduction probability and establishment probability into account. The model estimates the probability that a lake becomes infested by 2025, considering three primary factors:

- 1. likelihood of AIS introduction due to water connectivity,
- 2. likelihood of AIS introduction based on boater movement, and
- 3. environmental suitability. It evaluates approximately 10,000 waterbodies and generates a lake-level risk score (0.0 1.0) based on the percentage of times a lake becomes infested out of 10,000 model iterations.

Preliminary research has been done to incorporate hypothetical management scenarios into the model to simulate the mitigation effectiveness of different interventions. This research is ongoing and will predict, for the first time, the benefit (number of infestations averted) and cost (direct management investment) of various prevention activities, compared to the 'status quo' models that are currently in operation.

Optimization for Watercraft Inspection

Decision optimization models are tools that analyze choices in a given scenario and supply end-users with a solution that minimizes or maximizes a performance measure of interest. Such models are ideal for generating transparency in the decision-making process, especially in scenarios in which decisions impact dynamic and complex systems.⁶⁵ Watercraft inspection is a primary component of prevention and slow-the-spread programs and are used widely by state and county programs in Minnesota. Watercraft inspections at points of entry to or exit from waterbodies also function as an important component of a surveillance and early detection program by identifying new AIS and associated movements (previous/future waterbodies) and educating boaters on the detection of AIS. Although valuable, the sheer number of recreational boats moving across the landscape, combined with the large number of waterbodies that can be a source or recipient of AIS, make watercraft inspection a particularly difficult program to manage. Researchers at MAISRC, in collaboration with researchers from the USDA Forest Service and the UMN College of Veterinary Medicine, have developed a model that determines the optimal locations for watercraft inspectors that maximizes the number of inspected watercrafts moving from AIS-infested lakes to lakes not known to contain the AIS.⁶⁷ The models use the MN DNR's watercraft inspection program database and statistical methods to adjust for bias and gaps to create a complete network of boat movement in Minnesota. The model has been applied to both state and county-level optimizations, accounting for any combination of zebra mussels, starry stonewort, spiny water flea, and Eurasian watermilfoil.

Visualization Tools

The aforementioned risk models for surveillance and the optimization for watercraft inspection locations have been transformed into an interactive dashboard that allows end-users to customize model outputs to fit their needs. This one-of-a-kind dashboard, known as the AIS Explorer (**Figures 3-9**), was publicly released in November 2020. Following its release, eight workshops were held for county-based and MN DNR AIS managers (~80 participants), as well as three webinars for various scientific and public audiences (~750 participants; webinar recordings are available <u>on YouTube</u> and by request). Ongoing support will be available for managers as they use the tool to inform their decisions – their feedback to

date has been critical to creating the AIS Explorer. As the underlying models are updated, complexity added, and new decision-support tools created, MAISRC researchers will incorporate those advancements into the AIS Explorer dashboard to ensure it is meeting the needs of state and local managers.

It is important to note that the AIS Explorer should be considered a *support* tool, adding value to existing decision-making processes, not a substitute for these processes. For example, there may be local factors or values not captured in this model that managers should consider when evaluating the model's recommendations.



The AIS Explorer is available at: <u>www.AISexplorer.umn.edu</u>

Figure 3. The interactive dashboard welcome page.



Figure 4. The "Introduction Risk for Surveillance" tab describes a waterbody's risk score or the risk that a waterbody will become infested eight years into the future. The menu on the left-hand side allows the user to tailor the model outputs to their needs, including species of interest and different routes of spread (boater movement or water connectivity). It will also zoom in on the county of interest.



Figure 5. Details of an individual waterbody selected on the interactive dashboard in the "Introduction Risk for Surveillance" tab. In this example we can see that the overall risk score for the selected waterbody and how much of that risk is due to boater movement vs. water connectivity. There is an option below that allows users to visualize the boater movement network constructed of movements directly into and out of the selected waterbody.



Figure 6. The network of boats heading into the selected waterbody. When the user scrolls over the lines connecting two waterbodies, the percentage of total incoming boat movements is revealed.

A S a explorer	Introduction Risk for Surveillance Prioritization for Watercraft Inspections About Con
County Crow Wing	Based on DNR infested water list - updated October 15.
Customize included lakes	Aitkin County Number of lakes: 240 Map of Inspection Stations Deckart
▲ Risk species () ✓ Zebra mussel	17 Inspection stations needed to inspect 60% of the risky boats in Altkin County
 Starry stonewort Eurasian watermitfoil Spiny waterflea 	Rank Name DOW Number Status Percentage of the risky basis inspected 1
	1 Mile Lacs 48000200 🛕 infested 25.1%
Run	2 Farm Island 01015900 🛦 Infested 33.8%
	3 Round 01020400 🛦 infested 39%
Percentage of boats to spect ()	4 Big Pine 01015700 🛦 Infested 43.6%
	5 Big Sandy 01006200 Not infested 45.9%
10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100	6 Minnewawa 01003300 Not Infested 479%
Export	7 Long/Tame Fish 18000200 ▲ infested 49.4%
	8 Hill 01014200 Not Infested 50.8%
Export chart image (PNG) Export map image (PNG)	9 Cedar 01020900 Not infested 52.1%
Export table (CSV)	10 Waukenabo 01013600 Not Infested 53.3%
	11 Big Pine 58013800 Not Infested 54.4%
	The number of inspection stations are based on aggregated annual boat movements between lakes.

Figure 7. The "Prioritization for Watercraft Inspection" tab showing a list and a map of optimal locations for watercraft inspections and the corresponding map. The menu on the left allows the end-user to select an invasive species of interest, a county of interest, and the proportion of boats to inspect.

County 🕕								Based o	n DNR infested water list -	updated October 15.
Crow Wing 👻										
Customize included lakes	Aitkin	County		Nu	umber of lakes: 240					
						Map of Inspection	Stations	Chart		
🛕 Risk species 🌗		17	nspection stations	needed to insp in Aitkin Count	ect 60% of the risky					
Zebra mussel		-/	Doats	IT AILKIT COUNT	LY .	100%- U				
Starry stonewort Eurasian watermilfoil Spiny waterfilea	Rank (Name	DOW Number	Status	Percentage of the risky boats inspected	- %08 12				
	1	Mille Lacs	48000200	A Infested	25.1%	to 60%				
Run	2	Farm Island	01015900	A Infested	33.8%	5				
	3	Round	01020400	A Infested	39%	40%-				
Percentage of boats to spect	4	Big Pine	01015700	A Infested	43.6%	20%-				
	5	Big Sandy	01006200	Not Infested	45.9%	0%-				
20 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 200	6	Minnewawa	01003300	Not Infested	47.9%	0	50	100	I 150	2
Export	7	Long / Tame Fish	18000200	A Infested	49.4%			Number of inspect	on stations	
	8	HIL	01014200	Not Infested	50.8%					
Export chart image (PNG) Export map image (PNG)	9	Cedar	01020900	Not Infested	52.1%					
Export table (CSV)	10	Waukenabo	01013600	Not Infested	53.3%					
	11	Big Pine	58013800	Not Infested	54.4%					
					novements between lakes.					

Figure 8. The "Prioritization for Watercraft Inspection" tab describing the optimal location for watercraft inspections and a corresponding chart indicating the point of diminishing returns, where increasing inspection efforts fails to improve prevention outcomes.

AIS			Crow Wing Co	ounty Lake	es			zation for Watercraft Insp	1	About Contact
County Crow Wing Customize included takes	Aitkin	Cou	Name Adney Agate	 DOW Number 18022500 18006000 		Excluded Lakes Name	¢	Based on DNR Infect	ed water list - u	pdated October 15, 2020
Risk species Tore mussel Zebra mussel Starry stonewort Eurasian watermilfoil Spiny waterflea	Rank 🕴	1, Name	Airport Pond Allen Anderson Andrews	18074100 18020800 18050000 18021400	Exclude >					
Run % Percentage of boats to inspect	1 2 3 4 5	Mille Lacs Farm Island Round Big Pine Big Sandy	Ann Anna Arbor Arla's Pond Arrowhead	18006500 18021300 18008000 18064000 18036600	<< Include All					
Export Export chart image (PNG) Export map image (PNG)	6 7 8 9	Minnewawa Long / Tarr Hill Cedar	Please note. any changes to th the 'Run' button on the main s running the model until your re GLOLOYOO	creen to initiate this.	You may experience a smal	itputs. Please press 'Apply', then 1-3 minute wait time after	Apply	i 100 Number of inspection station	150 150	200
Epport table (CSV)	10 11 The num	Waukenabo Big Pine Iber of inspec	9 03013600 58013800	Not infested Not infested gated annual boat m	53.3% 54.4% ovements between lakes					

Figure 9. The end-user can manually edit the lakes they want to include to tailor the model to their needs.



SECTION III: Gaps and Opportunities for Existing Surveillance and Early Detection Efforts

Need for statewide surveillance purpose and objectives to guide activities

Surveillance objectives can be developed at different geographical scales (e.g., waterbody, county, watershed, state), which can work in concert to support state-level management goals. Although rapid response plans have been developed at the state and county levels, there are barriers in the development and implementation of surveillance and early detection activities, in particular at the local level. For example, in interviews with AIS county managers we were told that challenges included: available funding, prioritization of resources between surveillance activities and management of existing infestations, lack of motivation due to the widespread distribution of AIS across certain regions, unclear expectations in terms of ability to effectively control new populations, and a smaller labor pool in rural counties. Education on the benefits of surveillance and early detection, guidance on the frequency, intensity, and quality of monitoring to be carried out, and clear communication regarding the specific steps that would occur in response to detecting new populations of AIS is not only essential for motivation and stakeholder buy-in but is also important in designing surveillance activities. Thus, clear definition of the purpose of a statewide surveillance program, with clearly outlined objectives, is critical for gaining support and designing cost-effective and coordinated programs. At the state level, the sensitivity of such surveillance activities must consider the breadth and intensity of the activities at various locations.

Below is an illustration of how activities and objectives can address the purpose of a statewide surveillance and early detection system, using zebra mussels as an example species.

Purpose of statewide surveillance and early detection system: To prevent the introduction and spread of AIS into and within Minnesota				
Species of interest	Zebra mussels (ZM)			
Habitat(s)	Dependent on life stage: Benthic, sedentary (adult) Pelagic zooplankton (veliger)			
Pathway(s)	Dependent on life stage: Boats, docks, lifts (adult) Natural pathways, water in boats (veliger)			
Objective 1	To track the distribution of ZM			
Objective 2	Early detection for rapid response in non-infested waterbodies			

Activity	Objectives met	Description and notes
Watercraft inspections	Objective 1	A form of passive surveillance (if locations of watercraft inspectors are strategically placed based on prevention not surveillance); Can be used to identify ZM and other AIS of interest that spread through this pathway; Time frame of detection too long to be used to detect new infestations for rapid response.
Monthly in water near access points	Objective 1 and Objective 2	A form of active surveillance to detect adult/juvenile populations; Since the method of detection identifies adult populations, the time frame of detection it is too long to detect new infestations for rapid response (See Bone Lake example on page 10 for weekly sampling)
eDNA of water samples to find ZM veligers	Objective 1 and Objective 2	A form of active surveillance to detect veligers; depending on sample design the time frame may be suitable for early detection and must consider sampling intensity (frequency and coverage) in conjunction with ZM life cycle.

Table 2. An example of how the purpose and objectives of the surveillance system are connected to surveillance activities using zebra mussels (ZM) as an example.

Variability in effort across spatial scales

Although there have been high levels of engagement and innovation overall among counties, there is variability in surveillance and early detection effort and sampling methods across counties.^{68,69} This variability is partially driven by differences in the aid received by each county; but other factors, such as the number of dedicated AIS staff, background and expertise of AIS program managers, and interagency relationships, also influence these efforts. Similar variability exists within state programs, where decisions to develop and implement passive and active surveillance programs is largely led by regional MN DNR staff to meet local management objectives. While there are some benefits to a de-centralized program (e.g., more responsiveness to local stakeholders), it risks falling short of statewide management objectives and may create inefficiencies. Identifying barriers to a more coordinated and cost-effective surveillance and early detection program and creating opportunities to overcome these barriers will be essential to improving outcomes.

Support for innovative multidisciplinary, science-based decision making

Managing AIS is complex, and local government staff responsible for managing county-level AIS activities should receive support in designing surveillance plans. The tools described in this report can be used to increase the efficacy of surveillance activities and reduce redundancy. For example, AIS Explorer's Introduction for Risk Surveillance and Prioritization for Watercraft Inspections can be used to coordinate efforts across scales sharing science-based, state-level information regarding risk to the MN DNR and local-level stakeholders.



SECTION IV: Funding and regulatory implications of a statewide surveillance and early detection program

Overall, Minnesota is well-positioned to develop a statewide surveillance and early detection program that is informed by the expertise and statewide perspective of the MN DNR, makes use of new research and science-based decision support tools, and leverages the local capacity made possible through the AIS Prevention Aid funding. The following recommendations developed in this section were based on review of literature and publicly available government documents, as well as conversations with stakeholders (see acknowledgements list) and experience of the project team.

The AIS Prevention Aid, distributed at the county level, has provided great flexibility to counties that has fostered the spirit of bottom-up, local level innovation, investment in local communities, and created opportunities for technical and leadership skill development in natural resource management at the local level. The program has also brought government closer to the citizens who play a role in AIS prevention and fostered collaboration and cooperation between state and local governments. Therefore, we focus our recommendations on county-level activities, as we see this as the route towards building the most effective statewide surveillance and early detection program. Ensuring proper funding, coordination, collaboration and defining shared management objectives will be imperative to the program's success.

1. Develop a Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan to guide the use of state-aid funding

The Aquatic Invasive Species Prevention Aid provides great flexibility to counties in the use of state-aid funding, stipulating that counties that receive a distribution under this section must use the proceeds solely to prevent the introduction or limit the spread of AIS at all access sites within the county (Minn. Stat. § 477A.19 – 3). Such broad programmatic goals, especially in the case of surveillance and early detection, do not provide sufficient guidance to local governments on how their local decisions can most effectively support regional or statewide objectives. While counties with existing capacity to address AIS have fostered bottom-up innovation and novel partnerships, counties without that capacity have struggled to implement programs to follow the mandate.⁶⁹ State and county agencies would benefit from having a comprehensive Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan that allows for local decision-making but can support a coordinated effort to achieve a common goal.

While currently under revision, the Minnesota State Management Plan for Invasive Species identifies goals, desired outcomes, strategies, and actions to prevent, monitor, control, and manage invasive species.⁷⁰ This recommended Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan can complement the State Management Plan but will provide more specificity on the purpose and objectives referring to surveillance and early detection and in identifying the role of state, local agencies, and local stakeholders. In addition, the Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan can be updated more readily to adjust to scientific advancements and future invasion scenarios.

This Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan should identify and describe the following items related to surveillance and early detection: purpose, objectives, activity areas, specific actions to undertake for each activity area, leading and cooperating stakeholders and their responsibilities, measurable outcomes, and evaluation. The identification of priorities, the development of specific actions, and the identification of leading and cooperative organizations would help to avoid unnecessary duplication of effort and improve regional coordination.⁷¹ The plan should also include a financial plan that identifies funding sources, trends, and current revenues and identifies costs and strategies for the actions included in the plan.⁷² The development of the Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan should involve key AIS partners, including counties and other local stakeholders.¹ The involvement of diverse perspectives helps to ensure that all values and needs are considered in plan development and that leadership and coordination are in place to support the plans.⁷³

2. Develop a statewide web-accessible database for AIS efforts

Currently, there is limited centralized information regarding AIS efforts at both statewide and local levels in Minnesota. For example, how many lakes have been surveyed and how were they surveyed?

¹ DNR Aquatic Invasive Species Partners are the Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center (MAISRC), Minnesota Invasive Species Advisory Council (MISAC), Protect your Waters, Minnesota Sea Grant Invasive Species, and Aquatic Invasive Species Advisory Committee. Information retrieved from https://www.dnr.state.mn.us/invasives/ais/programs.html on March 2020.

Which lakes have received watercraft inspection effort and how much effort? Having a comprehensive web-accessible database of surveillance and early detection efforts will facilitate information sharing and set minimum standards for reporting that would, in turn, increase transparency, help develop and maintain public trust, and provide metrics with which the Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan can be evaluated.^{71,74} In addition, these data would expand our capacity to develop risk assessment tools and determine the impacts of AIS and AIS management to inform responsive, research-based program development.

A new database and reports must be broadly accessible, easy to use, and exchanged among interested parties routinely. In addition, data obtained from various technologies must be integrated across a range of temporal and geographic scales.¹ In Australia, for example, a database was developed to meet national needs for a central repository of information.² The database was one of several key initiatives aimed at providing tools to prevent further introduction of species, facilitate rapid responses to new invasions, and assist with the management of existing introduced species in waters.⁷¹

Early steps to collect and organize surveillance data are underway, with internal efforts at the MN DNR and various research projects at MAISRC collecting new data or organizing existing, publicly available data. In addition, the MN DNR requests that all counties report their activities related to AIS Prevention Aid funding through a metrics template; however, the reporting is currently voluntary, leading to significant gaps in information availability (**Figure 10**). To make reporting more consistent, the legislature could include standardized reporting of surveillance and early detection activities as a requirement for receipt of state and AIS Prevention Aid funding.

The statewide publicly available database should include activity-level information as well as local and statewide information. In terms of activity-level information, the database should include variables related to surveillance and early detection (such as date of the survey, type of survey conducted, species being monitored, intensity of the survey, weather and site conditions, etc.) and watercraft inspections (such as date and location of inspection, intensity of inspection, violations found and type of violation, actions taken, etc.). In terms of local and statewide information, the database should include general information, such as the number of boats registered by county, type of boat registered, distribution of AIS in the county, and financial information, including revenue sources and expenditures. Further refinement and specific data to be collected would be a component of developing the Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan to ensure it is designed to meet local and state management objectives and provides sufficient stakeholder consultation.

This database could be developed and/or hosted by the MN DNR or the University of Minnesota – both have complimentary database systems and expertise that could be expanded to include surveillance and early detection information. The management plan in Wisconsin, for example, identifies University of Wisconsin–Extension as one of the leading organizations to support data collection efforts.⁷⁵ Within the University of Minnesota, two research centers can support these efforts: the Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center and the Institute for Urban and Regional Infrastructure Finance.³ In addition,

² The National Introduced Marine Pest Information System (NIMPIS)

³ Researchers at IURIF are already collecting data for the Minnesota Transportation Finance Database as part of the Transportation Policy and Economic Competitiveness (TPEC) Program.



these partners can contribute expertise in data visualization to communicate and share findings to inform efforts.⁷⁶

Figure 10. Counties Reporting Metrics to the Department of Natural Resources

3. Increase and/or adjust funding distribution formula for AIS Prevention Aid

Over the last decade, significant investments have been made by the Minnesota legislature, the University of Minnesota, local governments, nonprofits, and many individuals to address the threat and impact of AIS in the state. These efforts dramatically increased public awareness and positioned Minnesota as a leader in the fight against AIS. For example, programs like the Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center (est. 2012), new funding via AIS Prevention Aid (2015), and an increase to the AIS surcharge on watercraft registration (2019), have been possible with broad bipartisan and public support. It is important that continued investments and innovation reflect the growing impact and complexity of AIS problems in Minnesota. However, during times of financial stringency, it is particularly prudent to consider efficiencies and coordination to make existing funding most impactful. To that end, and specifically focused on surveillance and early detection, we outline some scenarios for a risk-based allocation of AIS Prevention Aid. We have focused on the AIS Prevention Aid given flexibility in how the funds are spent, interest by county-based mangers involved with the development of this report, and the value of building on local capacity to implement a surveillance and early detection program.

One way to maximize efficiency for risk-based surveillance and early detection is to adjust the funding distribution formula for the AIS Prevention Aid. Minnesota Statutes authorize \$10 million a year from the general fund to be appropriated to the commissioner of revenue to make payments (Minn. Stat. § 477A.19 – 5) using the following formula (Minn. Stat. § 477A.19 – 2):

- 50% based on each county's share of watercraft trailer launches, defined as any public access site designated for launching watercraft; and
- 50% based on each county's share of watercraft trailer parking spaces, defined as a parking space designated for a boat trailer at any public water access.

Counties make individual decisions on how funds are used, but resources must be used solely to prevent or limit the spread of non-native aquatic species at water access points within the county (Minn. Stat. § 477A.19 – 3). **Figure 11** illustrates the distribution of 2018 funding across Minnesota counties. The counties of St. Louis and Itasca contain the highest number of watercraft trailer launches and parking spaces and receive the highest level of funding (7.15% and 6.54% of the total funding in 2018, respectively). Counties like Wilkin, Red Lake, Lincoln, and Olmsted receive less than 0.1% of total funding (or less than \$9,000). Dodge, Fillmore, Pipestone, and Rock counties do not have public access sites or parking spaces, and, therefore, do not receive funding.



Figure 11. Aquatic Invasive Species Prevention Aid by County (percentage of total funding 2018). *Source: MN Department of Revenue (2018)*

The allocation formula was an excellent and intuitive first step, providing more money to counties with more water access points. However, our research and feedback from local managers suggests that the formula can be refined to account for additional factors that contribute to the spread of AIS. Below we list shortfalls with the existing finding method:

Strong correlation between variables used for allocation

Public access sites and parking spaces at the public access sites are strongly correlated (see **Figure 12**). The correlation is 0.92 and statistically significant (at the 0.01 level). Therefore, by including both variables the equation increases the concentration of funding amongst counties. Considering more factors that contribute to the spread of AIS, such as distance to infested waterbodies and the severity and type of invasion, counties can decrease funding concentrations to more effectively align resources with AIS risk.





Consideration of only public access points

The allocation formula is based on public access points and parking spaces at those points; this method does not consider private access points or the fact that AIS can spread to lakes without boat access. Like many counties, the funding that Lake of the Woods receives does not reflect their needs, given that there are many more private accesses than public access points in the county. The number of private access points is not currently documented but should be considered for future data collection. In addition, through surveys conducted at 22 lakes in 2018 and 2019, a consulting firm found at least one aquatic invasive species in 13 lakes and ponds without boat access in Hennepin County (Fortin Consulting, Inc., 2020). The current allocation creates a disadvantage for counties that have a relatively higher proportion of private water accesses.

• Adequacy of resources available to counties for AIS prevention

Because of the formula, some counties receive a very small portion of resources, which might create additional burdens on them as they undertake projects that cost more than the funds they receive. Counties can save funds from year to year to accomplish larger projects. According to the MN DNR, southeastern counties have reported that the resources they receive to support AIS prevention efforts are not sufficient and sometimes create an additional burden on them.⁶⁹ In 2018, seven counties received less than \$15,000 in state-aid for AIS prevention (including four with less than \$9,000).

The new funding allocation could start from the previous allocation model or be designed as a wholly new allocation method. Given that funding is being distributed to counties, adjusting the existing allocation model could allow for a smoother transition. The following funding allocation is recommendations could be an initial step towards incorporating surveillance and early detection of AIS to better inform risk-based prevention efforts. The formula can be adjusted as AIS surveillance and early detection goals are defined and as more consistent and comparable data are gathered from counties.

This new funding recommendation could allow an opt-out option for counties. Funding of counties that opt out could be used for additional grant funding (see recommendation 4). Counties that do not opt out would assume the responsibility of implementing AIS activities. Counties could self-administer the funds (consistent with the current practice) or, alternatively, follow a delegation agreement approach to reduce the burden imposed on counties that received AIS prevention aid but are not interested in using those funds by delegating all or part of their AIS prevention activities covered by the AIS Prevention Aid to another agency/organization. For example, delegation agreements are currently used by the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA) to regulate livestock operation⁷⁷ and by the Minnesota Department of Health (MDH) to regulate food, pools, and lodging.⁷⁸

The allocation of resources could include two components. The first component would be a base funding level that sets a minimum amount of funding for all counties to support a baseline level of prevention efforts. The base funding could be, for instance, set to \$15,000 or a quarter of one full-time employee,⁴ with the encouragement that counties provide cash or in-kind matching support.⁵ This base funding would support all counties that receive AIS Prevention Aid funds in their hiring of dedicated AIS coordinators who can prioritize AIS issues in the county and bring together local stakeholders to accomplish local AIS prevention and management goals. Though we acknowledge that, if the current allocation formula is changed, there may be counties that currently have supported staff positions that would no longer be able to.

The second funding component would be allocated based on a formula informed by prevention, surveillance, and early detection activities.

- 80% of total funds based on risk-based prevention activities:
 - 25% Watercraft trailer launches, defined as any public access site designated for launching watercraft
 - 25% Watercraft trailer parking spaces, defined as a parking space designated for a boat trailer at any public water access
 - o 30% Watercraft registered in the county (total number of boats)
- 20% of total funding based on risk-based surveillance and early detection priorities

⁴ Several counties have dedicated at least half time of a full-time employee to be in charge of AIS efforts.

⁵ The minimum could also be set as a minimum amount of funds per a metric or as a percentage of the proceeds collected from the watercraft registration fee. The feedlot program, for instance, allocates a base funding of \$89.98 per feedlot ⁸⁷. Similarly, the U.S. DOT adjusts the minimum allocation of federal resources to states to be at least 95 cents for each dollar paid on federal highway taxes by the residents of the state ⁸⁸.

The funding allocation for a given year would be determined by risk-based prevention, surveillance, and early detection needs. For the risk-based surveillance and early detection component, we recommend that risk is calculated annually based on science-supported, data-driven approaches using eco-epidemiological models, such as AIS Explorer. For example, the cumulative risk, as defined by the AIS Explorer, for each county would provide guidance on the proportional split of the funding. The statewide AIS surveillance and prevention plan would provide guidance to county managers to ensure efficient and effective coordination with a broader strategy. In addition, the implementation of this formula would require a transition period to allow counties to prepare for the adjustment and for models to develop greater capacity to estimate risk for a wider range of AIS. The transition period could be set to three years. In the first year, the funding would be allocated based solely on risk-based prevention. In year two, the counties would transition to 10% of their funding based on risk metrics for surveillance and early detection and 20% in year three.

By reporting metrics that describe surveillance and early detection efforts to the statewide webaccessible database described in Recommendation 2, state and local-stakeholders can better evaluate and coordinate their efforts. These metrics could include person-hours of field surveys and watercraft inspections, as described below.

Person-hours of field surveys conducted

Surveillance and early detection are critical components of a comprehensive prevention strategy, but can be time and financially intensive.⁷⁹ Despite interest to do so, without support and/or guidance, some local managers described their hesitation to invest in surveillance and early detection activities. In 2019, 41 counties, out of the 65 reporting, surveyed 531 lakes and rivers for AIS.⁸⁰ These efforts included the deployment of 431 zebra mussel settling plates, conducting 380 aquatic plant surveys, and doing zebra mussel veliger tows in 127 water bodies. These surveys reflect effort based on current funding and local priorities, they were not necessarily driven by a statewide strategy or risk evaluation. By developing a statewide purpose and objectives, strategies such as risk-based surveillance could be encouraged and implemented by allocating funds whereby counties with a greater risk of new introductions would receive more money. While this model currently considers only two AIS, zebra mussels and starry stonewort, future work is intended to address additional species.

Person-hours of watercraft inspections

Watercraft inspections are a central component of current statewide and local AIS prevention efforts and serve as a form of surveillance. All MN DNR inspectors and local partners used a standard app to electronically collect inspection information. The MN DNR collects, prepares (fixes or removes incorrect, duplicate, or incomplete data), and analyzes the data. These data are available upon request. The AIS Explorer uses the MN DNR's watercraft inspection program database and statistically adjusts for biases and gaps to create a network of boater movement in Minnesota.

In 2019, 40 counties had an authorized inspection program and performed over 203,599 hours of inspections or 385,480 inspections.⁸⁰ The current funding could be allocated to support these efforts in a more strategic way, such as incorporation of watercraft inspection optimization models developed by MAISRC and available on the AIS Explorer (currently at the county level, but ongoing research will expand to include statewide outputs).
New Variable Considered in the Allocation Formula

Watercraft registered in the county

Watercraft registration data can be used to better allocate funds based on risk factors associated with AIS spread. The correlation of this variable with public access sites (0.40) and parking spaces (0.58) are not high, allowing for some variation in the allocation of resources (see **Figure 13**). Consideration of registered watercraft could provide a more strategic funding approach to account for education/outreach, a popular prevention tool by county AIS managers, in the watercraft's 'home county'. This would allow for more sustained impressions/engagement with boaters away from the public access and where interactions would be more efficient and frequent.



Figure 13. Correlation between Boat Registration and Public Access Sites.



Figure 14. Boat Registration (2019) vs Aquatic Invasive Species Prevention Aid (2020).

4. Strengthen communications to foster regional coordination

AIS issues are often addressed in a "silo," as described by local stakeholders, but coordinated prevention efforts are necessary as water, people, and invasive species move across county and state lines. All stakeholders involved in AIS efforts must recognize that the management of AIS is a shared responsibility, and ineffective or underfunded efforts in one jurisdiction can affect the success of programs in neighboring jurisdictions. Inter-jurisdictional coordination and cooperation may be difficult as there are many stakeholders and priorities around AIS. Developing effective communications could help address those challenges.⁸¹

The high turnover rate among county staff involved in AIS efforts also affects the flow of communications.⁶⁹ Effective communications may help in the onboarding of new staff and development of consistent, shared understanding of strategies. Two key elements were raised in our conversations with local stakeholders that need to be addressed to develop effective communications: having regular communication and having shared access to information. Continuing communication helps to identify gaps and research needs and foster cooperatively working together to correct deficiencies in programs¹. Regular communications also facilitate the exchange of information about new infestations, plans,

actions, and accomplishments. Similarly, having access to the knowledge and skills obtained from past efforts enables informed decision-making, guides and expedites subsequent efforts, stimulates innovation, and reduces costs and time demands, among other benefits.

The DNR has developed passive and active ways to relay information to counties and local stakeholders,⁸² which include regional workshops and learning sessions. These meetings provide opportunities for counties and their partners to share and learn from each other's experiences. However, these may only take place once annually per MN DNR region (four regional workshops and learning sessions were reported in the 2018 Annual Report). Information sharing via listservs and websites are also helpful sources of information, although it requires individuals to already be engaged and aware of available information and how to find it.

County AIS partners in Minnesota could benefit from having additional meetings throughout the year, allowing more time to discuss several regional AIS issues and to follow-up more quickly on specific priorities. These can be in-person or virtual meetings to allow for the participation of more counties⁶. Additionally, improved communication between managers and public stakeholders would build trust, streamline information sharing, and facilitate the identification of mutually beneficial priorities.

We suggest an annual statewide meeting to bring together state and local managers, public stakeholders, and researchers. Participants may present the methods or practices they have adopted and discuss benefits and challenges experienced. MAISRC can support this effort, building on their popular AIS Research and Management Showcase to host a second day focused on local management activities with groups such as Minnesota Lakes and Rivers Advocates, the MN DNR, and county partners.

The following are suggested topics to be considered in future meetings. These topics were discussed in conversations with local stakeholders and documents from local governments.

- 1. Creation of a statewide AIS surveillance and early detection plan
- 2. Early detection and rapid response strategies⁷
- 3. Research findings
- 4. Enforcement strategies
- 5. Tools to improve the allocation of resources (e.g., watercraft inspections)

It is important to note that the aforementioned need and recommendations to improve communication are only the first steps. There should also be deliberate effort by all AIS stakeholders to coordinate efforts related to surveillance and early detection. While local autonomy can provide benefits (as outlined earlier in this report), ensuring that local and state efforts are coordinated to meet higher-level objectives will improve outcomes. For example, this can include agreeing on a shared purpose, use of standardized methods, or consistent and complete reporting of activities.

⁶ The Annual Report for 2018 reports that local government staff from 39 and 28 counties participated in regional workshops and learning sessions, respectively.

⁷ St. Louis County and Waseca County, for instance, include to "*broaden knowledge of and participation in early detection and rapid response activities*" as a main action in their Aquatic Invasive Species Prevention Plan (St. Louis County, 2015; Waseca County, 2019).

5. Strengthen the legal framework for early detection and surveillance, of AIS

Achieving a greater level of regulatory consistency in surveillance and early detection programs benefits natural resources and the public in a number of ways. Statutory definitions serve as key thresholds to our understanding of legislation and may intentionally or unintentionally narrow or widen the lens of meaning.⁸³ Statutory definitions can help unite diverse legislative audiences. According to Otts (2017), the alignment of state regulatory provisions can increase the effectiveness of the programs; minimize duplication of efforts; and increase awareness, understanding, and compliance. Currently, the definitions for "aquatic invasive species," "surveillance" and "early detection" are not included in the statutes (Minn. Stat. § 84D.01), leading to ambiguity and inconsistency in their definitions. Making the language more explicit could influence prioritization of and resource allocation for these activities.⁸⁵ Although rapid response is outside of the scope of this report, we recommend a clearer definition due to its inherent connection to early detection. Therefore, to better support the success of a statewide surveillance and early detection program, we propose the following recommendations to strengthen the legal framework for early detection and rapid response:⁸

Minn. Stat. § 84D Invasive Species

- 1. Define relevant terms, including but not limited to the following:
 - a) <u>Aquatic invasive species</u>: "Non-native plants, animals, and other organisms that have evolved to live primarily in water (aquatic habitats) rather than on land (terrestrial habitats)"⁸⁶ that:
 - 1. cause or may cause economic or environmental harm or harm to human health; or
 - 2. threaten or may threaten natural resources or the use of natural resources in the state.
 - b) <u>Surveillance:</u> "Ongoing, systematic collection, analysis, and interpretation of AIS-related data essential to planning, implementation, and evaluation of practices related to aquatic invasive species"⁸⁶
 - c) <u>Early detection</u>: "Identify the presence of aquatic invasive species that pose a risk to landscapes and aquatic areas while they are localized and before they become established and spread to new areas" (U.S. Department of Interior, 2016).
 - <u>Rapid response</u>: "Swiftly respond to remove any newly detected species while they are localized and before they become established and spread to new areas" (U.S. Department of Interior, 2016).
- 2. Make explicit "surveillance, early detection, and rapid response" in 84D.02 Invasive Species Management Program for Aquatic Plants and Wild Animals in the following subdivisions:

⁸ A similar approach was proposed by Otts & Nanjappa (2016) for State Watercraft Inspection and Decontamination Programs. According to Otts (2017) Minnesota's aquatic invasive species law and implementing regulations include about 70% of the core authorities suggested in the model legal framework for this matter.

- Establishment (Subd. 1)
- Management plan (Subd. 3)
- Annual report (Subd. 6) Item 1 Include detailed information on expenditures for prevention, early detection and rapid response, control and management, restoration, research, education and public awareness, and cooperation⁹
- Contracts for services for emergency invasive species prevention work; commissions to persons employed (Subd. 7)

Minn. Stat. § 477A.19 Aquatic Invasive Species Prevention Aid

- 1. Update definition of Aquatic invasive species to be more explicit and be consistent with language used in other statutes (update of Minn. Stat. § 84D, see item 1 above).
- 2. Make explicit "surveillance and early detection" in the use of proceeds (Subd. 3).

⁹ Mirroring information of federal funding for invasive species activities (Congressional Research Service, 2018). Categories developed by the National Invasive Species Council to address invasive species (GAO, 2015).

References

- 1. Norton H, Veneman H, Evans H. National Invasive Species Council. *DoiGov*. 2003;(June). http://www.doi.gov/invasivespecies/edrr/upload/Guidelines-for-Early-Detection-Rapid-Response.pdf.
- 2. Pawson SM, Sullivan JJ, Grant A. Expanding general surveillance of invasive species by integrating citizens as both observers and identifiers. *J Pest Sci (2004)*. 2020;93(4):1155-1166. doi:10.1007/s10340-020-01259-x
- 3. Hester SM, Cacho OJ. The contribution of passive surveillance to invasive species management. *Biol Invasions*. 2017;19(3):737-748. doi:10.1007/s10530-016-1362-4
- 4. Executive Order 13112. *U.S. Presidential Executive Order*. Federal Register: Feburary 8, 1999. Volume 64, Number 25; 1999.
- 5. Stärk KDC, Regula G, Hernandez J, et al. Concepts for risk-based surveillance in the field of veterinary medicine and veterinary public health: Review of current approaches. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2006;6:1-8. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-6-20
- Ashton PJ, Mitchell DS. In Biological Invasions: a Global Perspective (eds Drake A. et al.) 111– 154. 1989.
- 7. Myers JH, Simberloff D, Kuris AM, Carey JR. Eradication revisited: dealing with exotic species. *Trends Ecol Evol*. 2000;15(8):316-320.
- 8. Lodge DM, Williams S, MacIsaac HJ, et al. Biological invasions: recommendations for US policy and management. *Ecol Appl*. 2006;16(6):2035-2054.
- 9. Mehta S V., Haight RG, Homans FR, Polasky S, Venette RC. Optimal detection and control strategies for invasive species management. *Ecol Econ*. 2007;61(2-3):237-245. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2006.10.024
- 10. Vander Zanden MJ, Olden JD. A management framework for preventing the secondary spread of aquatic invasive species. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci.* 2008;65(7):1512-1522. doi:10.1139/F08-099
- 11. Declich S, Carter AO. Public health surveillance: historical origins, methods and evaluation. *Bull World Health Organ*. 1994;72(2):285.
- 12. Choi BCK. The past, present, and future of public health surveillance. *Scientifica (Cairo)*. 2012;2012.
- 13. Rosenkötter N, Ziemann A, Krafft T, Riesgo LG-C, Vergeiner G, Brand H. Non-infectious events under the International Health Regulations (2005) in Europe–a case for syndromic surveillance. *J Public Health Policy*. 2014;35(3):311-326.
- 14. BERKELMAN RL, BUEHLER JW. Public health surveillance of non-infectious chronic diseases: the potential to detect rapid changes in disease burden. *Int J Epidemiol*. 1990;19(3):628-635.
- 15. Grayman WM, Males RM. Risk-based modeling of early warning systems for pollution accidents. *Water Sci Technol*. 2002;46(3):41-49.

- 16. Hashimoto S, Murakami Y, Taniguchi K, Nagai M. Detection of epidemics in their early stage through infectious disease surveillance. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2000;29(5):905-910.
- 17. Thacker SB, Choi K, Brachman PS. The surveillance of infectious diseases. *Jama*. 1983;249(9):1181-1185.
- Fuerst O, Fuerst T. Method for accessing and analyzing medically related information from multiple sources collected into one or more databases for deriving illness probability and/or for generating alerts for the detection of emergency events relating to disease management . February 2006.
- 19. Morse SS. Factors and determinants of disease emergence. *Rev Sci Tech*. 2004;23(2):443-451. doi:10.20506/rst.23.2.1494
- 20. Simmons M, Tucker A, Chadderton WL, Jerde CL, Mahon AR. Active and passive environmental DNA surveillance of aquatic invasive species. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci.* 2016;73(1):76-83.
- 21. Mahon AR, Nathan LR, Jerde CL. Meta-genomic surveillance of invasive species in the bait trade. *Conserv Genet Resour*. 2014;6(3):563-567.
- 22. Yemshanov D, Koch FH, Lu B, et al. There is no silver bullet: the value of diversification in planning invasive species surveillance. *Ecol Econ*. 2014;104:61-72.
- 23. Clout MN, Veitch CR. Turning the tide of biological invasion: the potential for eradicating invasive species. *Turn tide Erad invasive species IUCN SSC Invasive Species Spec Group, Gland Switz Cambridge, UK.* 2002:1-3.
- 24. Martinez B, Reaser JK, Dehgan A, et al. Technology innovation: advancing capacities for the early detection of and rapid response to invasive species. *Biol Invasions*. 2020;22(1):75-100. doi:10.1007/s10530-019-02146-y
- 25. Xiao Y, Greiner R, Lewis MA. Evaluation of machine learning methods for predicting eradication of aquatic invasive species. *Biol Invasions*. 2018;20(9):2485-2503. doi:10.1007/s10530-018-1715-2
- 26. Kanankege KST, Alkhamis MA, Perez AM, Phelps NBD. Zebra mussels and Eurasian watermilfoil reporting patterns in Minnesota. *J Great Lakes Res.* 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jglr.2018.02.008
- 27. Kanankege KST, Alkhamis MA, Phelps NBD, Perez AM. A probability Co-Kriging model to account for reporting bias and recognize areas at high risk for Zebra Mussels and Eurasian Watermilfoil invasions in Minnesota. *Front Vet Sci.* 2018;4:231.
- Morisette JT, Reaser JK, Cook GL, Irvine KM, Roy HE. Right place. Right time. Right tool: guidance for using target analysis to increase the likelihood of invasive species detection. *Biol Invasions*. 2020;22(1):67-74. doi:10.1007/s10530-019-02145-z
- 29. Cameron AR. The consequences of risk-based surveillance: Developing output-based standards for surveillance to demonstrate freedom from disease. *Prev Vet Med.* 2012;105(4):280-286. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.01.009
- 30. Drewe JA, Hoinville LJ, Cook AJC, Floyd T, Gunn G, Stärk KDC. SERVAL: a new framework for the evaluation of animal health surveillance. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* 2015;62(1):33-45.

- 31. HENDRIKX P, Gay E, Chazel M, et al. OASIS: an assessment tool of epidemiological surveillance systems in animal health and food safety. *Epidemiol Infect*. 2011;139(10):1486-1496.
- 32. Berec L, Kean JM, Epanchin-Niell R, Liebhold AM, Haight RG. Designing efficient surveys: spatial arrangement of sample points for detection of invasive species. *Biol Invasions*. 2014;17(1):445-459. doi:10.1007/s10530-014-0742-x
- 33. Jerde CL, Mahon AR, Chadderton WL, Lodge DM. "Sight-unseen" detection of rare aquatic species using environmental DNA. *Conserv Lett.* 2011;4(2):150-157. doi:10.1111/j.1755-263X.2010.00158.x
- Nathan LM, Simmons M, Wegleitner BJ, Jerde CL, Mahon AR. Quantifying environmental DNA signals for aquatic invasive species across multiple detection platforms. *Environ Sci Technol*. 2014;48(21):12800-12806. doi:10.1021/es5034052
- Scriver M, Marinich A, Wilson C, Freeland J. Development of species-specific environmental DNA (eDNA) markers for invasive aquatic plants. *Aquat Bot*. 2015;122:27-31. doi:10.1016/j.aquabot.2015.01.003
- 36. Nathan LR, Jerde CL, Budny ML, Mahon AR. The use of environmental DNA in invasive species surveillance of the Great Lakes commercial bait trade. *Conserv Biol*. 2015;29(2):430-439.
- 37. Wilcox TM, Carim KJ, McKelvey KS, Young MK, Schwartz MK. The dual challenges of generality and specificity when developing environmental DNA markers for species and subspecies of Oncorhynchus. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(11):1-13. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0142008
- 38. Mack A, Choffnes ER, Sparling PF, Hamburg MA, Lemon SM. Global Infectious Disease Surveillance and Detection: Assessing the Challengesâ¬" Finding Solutions: Workshop Summary. National Academies Press; 2007.
- 39. Epanchin-Niell RS, Wilen JE. Individual and cooperative management of invasive species in human-mediated landscapes. *Am J Agric Econ*. 2015;97(1):180-198. doi:10.1093/ajae/aau058
- 40. Figgatt M, Hyde J, Dziewulski D, et al. Harmful algal bloom–associated illnesses in humans and dogs identified through a pilot surveillance system—New York, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66(43):1182.
- 41. Surveillance sensitivity.pdf.
- 42. Cameron AR, Meyer A, Faverjon C, Mackenzie C. Quantification of the sensitivity of early detection surveillance. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* 2020.
- 43. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. Sentinel Lakes.
- 44. Bremner A, Park K. Public attitudes to the management of invasive non-native species in Scotland. *Biol Conserv.* 2007;139(3-4):306-314. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2007.07.005
- 45. Gordh G. The Handbook of Plant Biosecurity.; 2014. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-7365-3
- 46. Council NIS. General guidelines for the establishment and evaluation of invasive species early detection and rapid response systems. 2003.
- 47. Vander Zanden MJ, Olden JD. A management framework for preventing the secondary spread of

aquatic invasive species. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 2008;65(7):1512-1522. doi:10.1139/f08-099

- 48. Rodríguez JP, Brotons L, Bustamante J, Seoane J. The application of predictive modelling of species distribution to biodiversity conservation. *Divers Distrib*. 2007;13(3):243-251. doi:10.1111/j.1472-4642.2007.00356.x
- 49. Muthukrishnan R, Sleith RS, Karol KG, Larkin DJ. Prediction of starry stonewort (Nitellopsis obtusa) invasion risk in upper Midwest (USA) lakes using ecological niche models. *Aquat Bot*. 2018;151(January):43-50. doi:10.1016/j.aquabot.2018.08.001
- 50. VanDerWal J, Shoo LP, Johnson CN, Williams SE. Abundance and the environmental niche: Environmental suitability estimated from niche models predicts the upper limit of local abundance. *Am Nat.* 2009;174(2):282-291. doi:10.1086/600087
- Romero-Alvarez D, Escobar LE, Varela S, Larkin DJ, Phelps NBD. Forecasting distributions of an aquatic invasive species (Nitellopsis obtusa) under future climate scenarios. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(7):1-24. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0180930
- 52. Lee II, Henry, Reusser, Deborah A., Olden Julian D., Smith, Scott S., Graham Jim, Burkett Virginia, Dukes Jeffrey S., Piorkowski Robert J., Mcphedran J. Integrated Monitoring and Information Systems for Managing Aquatic Invasive Species in a Changing Climate. *Conserv Biol.* 2008;22(3):575-584.
- 53. Feng X, Park DS, Walker C, Peterson AT, Merow C, Papeş M. A checklist for maximizing reproducibility of ecological niche models. *Nat Ecol Evol*. 2019;3(10):1382-1395. doi:10.1038/s41559-019-0972-5
- 54. Cook DC, Thomas MB, Cunningham SA, Anderson DL, De Barro PJ. Predicting the economic impact of an invasive species on an ecosystem service. *Ecol Appl*. 2007;17(6):1832-1840. doi:10.1890/06-1632.1
- 55. Espanchin-Niell, Rebecca; Haight, Robert; Berec, Ludek; Kean, John; Leihold A. Optimal surveillance and eradication of invasive species in heterogeneous landscapes. *Ecol Lett*. 2012;15(8):803-812.
- 56. Haight RG, Polasky S. Optimal control of an invasive species with imperfect information about the level of infestation. *Resour Energy Econ*. 2010;32(4):519-533. doi:10.1016/j.reseneeco.2010.04.005
- 57. Hauser CE, McCarthy MA. Streamlining "search and destroy": Cost-effective surveillance for invasive species management. *Ecol Lett*. 2009;12(7):683-692. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01323.x
- 58. Maguire LA. What can decision analysis do for invasive species management? *Risk Anal.* 2004;24(4):859-868. doi:10.1111/j.0272-4332.2004.00484.x
- 59. Underwood-Genetic Algorithm.pdf.
- 60. Mandrak NE, Cudmore B. Risk assessment: Cornerstone of an aquatic invasive species program. *Aquat Ecosyst Heal Manag.* 2015;18(3):312-320. doi:10.1080/14634988.2015.1046357
- 61. Jakob-Hoff RM, MacDiarmid SC, Lees C, Miller PS, Travis D, Kock R. Manual of Procedures for

Wildlife Disease Risk Analysis. Paris: OIE (World Organisation for Animal Health); 2014.

- 62. Johnson LE, Ricciardi A, Carlton JT, Applications E, Dec N. Overland Dispersal of Aquatic Invasive Species : A Risk Assessment of Transient Recreational Boating OVERLAND DISPERSAL OF AQUATIC INVASIVE SPECIES : A RISK ASSESSMENT OF TRANSIENT RECREATIONAL BOATING. *America (NY)*. 2007;11(6):1789-1799.
- 63. Phelps NBD, Mor SK, Armien AG, et al. Isolation and molecular characterization of a novel picornavirus from baitfish in the USA. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(2). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087593
- 64. Beletsky D, Beletsky R, Rutherford ES, et al. Predicting spread of aquatic invasive species by lake currents. *J Great Lakes Res.* 2017;43(3):14-32. doi:10.1016/j.jglr.2017.02.001
- 65. Büyüktahtakın IE, Haight RG. A review of operations research models in invasive species management: state of the art, challenges, and future directions. *Ann Oper Res.* 2018;271(2):357-403. doi:10.1007/s10479-017-2670-5
- 66. Yemshanov D, Haight RG, Koch FH, et al. A safety rule approach to surveillance and eradication of biological invasions. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(7):1-25. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181482
- 67. Haight RG, Kinsley AC, Kao S-Y, Yemshanov D PN. Optimizing the location of watercraft inspection stations to slow the spread of aquatic invasive species. *Biol Invasions*. 2020.
- 68. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. AIS Workshop Summary.; 2019.
- 69. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. AIS Workshop Summary. 2018.
- 70. Minnesota Invasive Species Advisory Council. *A Minnesota State Management Plan for Invasive Species*.; 2009.
- 71. Commonwealth of Australia. Turning Back the Tide-The Invasive Species Challenge.; 2004.
- 72. Environmental Protection Agency. *Guide to Developing an Environmental Management System-Plan.*; 2020.
- 73. Canadian Council of Fisheries and Aquaculture Ministers. *A Canadian Action Plan to Address the Threat of Aquatic Invasive Species.*; 2004.
- 74. United States Department of Agriculture. Data Recording Protocols for Invasive Species Management (Inventory and Mapping). 2008.
- 75. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. *Wisconsin Aquatic Invasive Species Management Plan.*; 2018.
- 76. Ecker JK, Raben R, Simpson G. Use of GIS to Determine Potential Sources of Aquatic Invasive Species Invasions into Western South Dakota Reservoirs. *Nat Resour*. 2020;11(02):39.
- 77. Minnesota Pollution Control Agency. Feedlots. https://www.pca.state.mn.us/water/feedlots.
- 78. Department of Health. Food, Pools and Lodging Services Delegation Agreement Materials. https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/food/pwdu/delegationagreement.htm l.
- 79. Trebitz AS, Hoffman JC, Darling JA, et al. Early detection monitoring for aquatic non-indigenous

species: Optimizing surveillance, incorporating advanced technologies, and identifying research needs. *J Environ Manage*. 2017;202:299-310.

- 80. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. AIS Prevention Aid Metrics 2019.; 2020.
- 81. Crall AW, Renz M, Panke BJ, et al. Developing cost-effective early detection networks for regional invasions. *Biol Invasions*. 2012;14(12):2461-2469.
- 82. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. *Invasive Species 2018 Annual Report.*; 2018.
- 83. Price J, Price JF. Statutory Definitions. 2013. http://scholars.law.unlv.edu/facpub%0Ahttp://scholars.law.unlv.edu/facpub.
- 84. Otts SS. From the Theory to Practice: A Comparison of State Watercraft Inspection and Decontamination Programs to the Model Legal Framework.; 2017.
- 85. Reaser JK, Burgiel SW, Kirkey J, Brantley KA, Veatch SD, Burgos-Rodríguez J. The early detection of and rapid response (EDRR) to invasive species: a conceptual framework and federal capacities assessment. *Biol Invasions*. 2020;22(1):1-19. doi:10.1007/s10530-019-02156-w
- 86. US Department of Agriculture. Aquatic Invasives. https://www.invasivespeciesinfo.gov/aquatic.
- 87. Minnesota Pollution Control. *County Feedlot Program.*; 2015.
- 88. Congressional Research Service. *Invasive Species: A Brief Overview.*; 2018.

Glossary

Control- activities that are undertaken to manage the spread of an aquatic invasive species may be biological, chemical, or mechanical

Detection methods- type of equipment used to detect the presence of aquatic invasive species such as settlement plates, field reports, boat inspections, environmental DNA (eDNA)

Early detection- To identify the presence of aquatic invasive species that pose a risk to landscapes and aquatic areas while they are localized and before they become established and spread to new areas

Effectiveness- the ability of a program to produce intended or expected results

Efficiency- ability of the program to produce the intended results with minimum use of time and resources

Eradicate- to extirpate a target population

Established- when an invasive species has spread beyond the place of introduction and become a sustainable population

Invasive species- an organism that is non-indigenous not native to a certain area and is capable of creating economic, environmental, harm or harm to animal or human health

Introduced- species brought to a new location across a natural geographic boundary

Landscape scale- a large spatial scale encompassing a range of ecosystem processes

Risk- the potential realization of undesired consequences or cost of the event based on the probability of infestation occurring in a unit of interest in a specified unit of time and

Risk factor- a characteristic that increases the likelihood of infestation

Risk-based surveillance- the allocation of surveillance activities guided by the probability of an event (introduction or infestation)

Sensitivity- the probability that the surveillance activity is able to correctly detect a new AIS introduction within the target time period

Strata/Stratum- a subgroup of entities used in an analysis

Sample design- how many lakes are chosen at what frequency.

Timeframe- target time frame for detection (e.g., estimated mean lag time for an aquatic invasive species)

Unit of analysis/interest- may be a waterbody, chain of waterbodies, or higher order such as a county or state

Appendix

Current AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Efforts

Numerous activities and programs have been established to combat the spread of AIS at the regional, state, and local levels. While not an all-inclusive list of activities, the information below provides an overview of various programs that are relevant to surveillance and early detection in Minnesota. Existing efforts have been important in slowing the spread of AIS but include many gaps that should be addressed to develop a more robust Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan for the state.

Regional

There are a variety of organizations involved in activities that support the components described in this report. Blue Accounting is a project that collaborates with federal, state, provincial, and private sector organizations. They aim to provide a centralized database of invasive species management activities throughout the Great Lake Basin, including planning, prevention, and monitoring so that the various entities working across this the region are working in a coordinated fashion and have the information they need to evaluate their efforts and progress. Current activities that Blue Accounting is involved with pertaining to surveillance and early detection include the development of a Basin Framework that guides and monitors AIS across the Great Lakes Basin, a species "watch list" and site priority list to inform and target monitoring efforts and outlines methods for monitoring.

The Midwest Invasive Plant Network is an organization that aims to reduce the impact of invasive species in the Midwest. They do so through partnerships with the upper Midwestern states including, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Ohio, Wisconsin, and the Province of Ontario, Canada. Other plant-focused programs include the Great Lakes Hydrilla Collaborative, a platform designed to promote sharing of up-to-date information on prevention and management and includes recommendations on early detection and the Starry Stonewort Collaborative aims to unite experts, managers, and citizens to manage the spread of Starry Stonewort across the Great Lakes Basin.

The Great Lakes Panel on Aquatic Nuisance Species is an organization aimed at multi-jurisdictional coordination and collaboration to enhance AIS prevention and control. The panel is composed of members from the US and Canadian federal agencies, the eight Great Lakes states, and provinces of Ontario and Quebec, regional agencies, local communities, tribal authorities, commercial interest groups, and universities (including MAISRC and Minnesota Sea Grant). Areas of focus include Information/Education, Research Coordination, and Policy Coordination.

Other notable efforts at the regional efforts include EDDMapS Midwest (also known as the Great Lakes Early Detection Network), a multi-stakeholder collaboration that shares data with regard to new invasive sightings. They do this through a website, smartphone or tablet app, and web-based alert system. In addition, the Midwest Invasive Species Information Network is a regional effort to provide resources for early detection and response, which is led by Michigan State University Department of Entomology and supporting partners.

State

University of Minnesota (UMN)

The Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center (MAISRC) has led several research projects focused on developing, improving and evaluating surveillance and early detection methods. For example, researchers at MAISRC and collaborators have been working since 2015 to develop epidemiological models to forecast the spread of AIS, estimate environmental suitability of various species and incorporate decision optimization methods to inform resource allocation. These models were publicly released with an online dashboard known as the AIS Explorer (www.aisexplorer.umn.edu). These models continue to be improved with additional data and added complexity. Other research topics of recent/ongoing focus include improved survey design for zebra mussel detection, development of new technologies of eDNA testing and standardized protocols, and statewide risk-based surveys for high-priority AIS, such as hybrid Eurasian watermilfoil and non-native Phragmites.

MAISRC, in partnership with University of Minnesota Extension, has developed two citizen science programs that are focused on AIS surveillance and early detection. The AIS Detectors program aims to empower community members through volunteer programs, events, workshops, and educational offerings to train individuals on aquatic invasive species identifications. These trainings support the development of a statewide network of engaged citizen scientists actively involved with AIS response at the local level. In addition, Starry Trek is a statewide event aimed at early detection of new starry stonewort infestations. This program highlights the importance and value of early detection by trained citizen scientists. In each year, Starry Trek volunteers have found new populations of AIS, including starry stonewort (Hubbard, Beltrami, and Stearns counties), zebra mussels, and golden clams. For Starry Stonewort in Grand Lake (Stearns County), the detection resulted in successful rapid response effort to control a small patch near the public access, highlighting the value of such activities.

Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (MN DNR)

The MN DNR has an Invasive Species Program established by the Legislature to prevent the introduction and spread of invasive species and manage their impacts in Minnesota. Since 1992, the DNR's watercraft inspection program (WIP) has worked to prevent the spread of invasive species within Minnesota through boater education, in conjunction with watercraft inspection and decontamination at public water accesses. The WIP also serves as a form of passive surveillance, in which they are not actively searching waterbodies for AIS but detections of AIS on outgoing boats have led to the identification of new infestations. Currently, the WIP is operated by one central program manager and four regional supervisors managing approximately 90 DNR watercraft inspectors. Inspectors are placed at public water accesses selected from a tier list developed by the MN DNR. The tier list prioritizes lakes infested with zebra mussels and high levels of boater movement, calculated from the WIP data. The MN DNR also trains local watercraft inspectors authorized by the delegation agreements with the MN DNR resulting in the training of over 900 watercraft inspectors in local government units. The 922 local unit of government watercraft inspectors are deployed based on the goals of each county program administering an inspection program.

In addition to the WIP, the MN DNR participates in additional passive surveillance, such as following up on reports of new AIS sightings made by the general public, including lakeshore property owners. They also engage in active surveillance (actively looking for new infestations,) through a volunteer zebra mussel monitoring program that aims to coordinate citizen efforts in detecting zebra mussels by providing educational materials and a reporting portal. To support the active and passive surveillance programs, MN DNR staff lead trainings for local government, lake associations, and lake consultants on early detection and monitoring of aquatic plants. In addition, the AIS Detectors program and MN DNR have partnered to deliver an aquatic plant identification course for consultants and companies that provide aquatic plant surveys and treatments, lake associations, and the public.

Each year the MN DNR hosts several regional workshops for local government staff that lead the county AIS Prevention Aid programs. The workshops are hosted in different parts of the state and are held to foster collaboration, share information, and keep county level staff current on MN DNR activities and other advance in AIS management.

Statewide advisory and coordinating groups

The Minnesota Invasive Species Advisory Council (MISAC) is a multi-organizational partnership aimed at controlling invasive species (terrestrial and aquatic). The council was formed in response to the Presidential Executive Order 13112 on invasive species, the National Invasive Species Management Plan, and includes representation from a variety of agencies including the Minnesota Department of Agriculture (MDA), the MN DNR, UMN, and local organizations. The purpose of the MISAC is to provide communication and coordination among the member organizations to implement the Minnesota Statewide Invasive Species Management Plan, including science-based early detection.

The Minnesota AIS Advisory Committee advises the MN DNR on its AIS program. The committee was created in 2012 by the MN DNR commissioner to help maintain strong relationships with AIS stakeholders. There are 15 members and five ex-officio members with a wide range of personal and professional experience, including private, non-profit, and public sector organizations actively engaged with AIS issues.

Local

At the local level, counties lead efforts on activities aimed at mitigating AIS introduction and spread, and some of those include surveillance and early detection. We interviewed 16 out of 87 counties that receive ~50% of the annual AIS Prevention Aid. They see the legislative language surrounding the state prevention aid as a way to foster the spirit of bottom-up, local-level innovation. But it leaves county managers with little guidance on surveillance and early detection, leading to a mismatch between intentions and outcomes. For example, counties have prepared rapid response plans for new invasions, even setting aside contingency funds. However, the frequency, intensity, and quality of monitoring carried out often does not result in data that can meet the requirements of a rapid response effort, as most detections are too late to rapidly respond. Furthermore, only a minority of AIS county managers interviewed consider surveillance and early detection to fall in line with the purpose of the funds ("solely to prevent the introduction or limit the spread of aquatic invasive species at all access sites within the county"). As a result, most interviewed county managers choose to prioritize watercraft inspections, decontamination, and education.

General engagement with AIS issues, including surveillance and early detection efforts, have increased dramatically in recent years by lake associations, nonprofits, businesses and individuals. Considerable investments of time and money are made by these local groups to prevent the spread of AIS and mitigate their impacts. Many of these groups have worked closely with local and state managers and MAISRC to

become more educated and utilize resources; however, more would need to be done to ensure they are most effectively and efficiently engaged in the collective purpose of a Statewide AIS Surveillance and Early Detection Plan.



UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA Driven to Discover®